FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/30/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/29/2024 3:12 PM

102761-3

No. 84337-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SEATTLE TRUCK LAW, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES BANKS, an individual,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary W. Manca WSBA #42798 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorney for Petitioner James Banks

A. INTRODUCTION

This petition calls on this Court, as the state's regulator of the legal profession, to decide the extent to which a law firm may require a departing lawyer to pay money to the firm for each client who terminates the firm and hires that lawyer. In this case, a law firm requires each former client to pay 40-50% of the fees earned by the former lawyer after terminating the relationship with the firm. This issue implicates RPC 5.6(a), which this Court has never interpreted before, as well as the public policies embodied in the rule. The rule prohibits law firms from imposing any partnership and employment agreement that "restricts" a lawyer's ability to practice. This prohibition is designed to protect client choice and to preserve attorneys' professional freedom, especially for early-career lawyers. These policies, if violated, require a court to void any offending contracts. Nationwide, most courts and state bar associations' ethics committees (including Washington's) have broadly construed similar provisions in their rules. On this view, a contractual

clause that does not directly limit a lawyer's ability to compete with their former firm still impermissibly "restricts" client choice and professional autonomy if it creates a financial disincentive. That interpretation would seem to be the one most consistent with this Court's precedents on how to construe the RPCs.

But here, Division I sided with a minority view. In upholding the restriction here, the court cast aside these public policies and instead focused on the law firm's business expectancy interest in its former clients' files. In doing so, the court improperly treated client matters as firm property. The court also misapprehended the law of contingency fees. Because the law firm had not yet substantially performed the contingency (a favorable settlement or verdict), the firm had earned only a quantum meruit claim for services rendered, not a contingency fee. By upholding the firm's fee claim, the court not only prioritized the firm's business interests but also allowed it to collect far more in fees than Washington law otherwise permitted—all without the former clients' consent. The effect of this secret fee-splitting requirement was to create intolerable risks to client choice and to the departing lawyer's professional freedom. These consequences would have a harmful impact profession-wide and on the public if similar requirements were to proliferate statewide once other law firms adjust their employment contracts to align with Division I's opinion.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and (b)(1).

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is James Banks, an attorney and former employee of respondent Seattle Truck Law, PLLC ("STL").

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Banks seeks review of Division I's opinion issued on November 27, 2023. That court entered an order on December 29, 2023, denying reconsideration and denying STL's and Banks's motions to publish. These decisions are reproduced in the Appendix.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

RPC 5.6 provides that:

A lawyer shall not participate in offering or making:

(a) a partnership, shareholders, operating, employment, or other similar type of agreement that restricts the rights of a lawyer or an LLLT to practice after termination of the relationship, except an agreement concerning benefits upon retirement

This Court has never interpreted RPC 5.6(a). The question presented is whether this rule prohibits law firms from imposing financial disincentives on attorneys leaving and taking firm clients with them, and if so, what is the test for whether an indirect restraint on professional movement violates RPC 5.6(a) and its underlying public policies.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

STL employed Banks, an early-career attorney, to work on the firm's personal-injury cases. CP 88, 95-97, 193, 275-76. The firm specialized in trucking accidents. CP 2, 10, 88, 151. As a condition of employment, STL required Banks to sign a contract

that STL drafted. CP 89, 95-97. STL amended it a year later to pay Banks 35-40% of the gross contingency fees from every STL case. CP 90, 99-100, 194-95. The supplemental agreement left intact the original agreement's provision for splitting fees if Banks left STL and any firm clients chose to terminate the firm and hire him. CP 96. This fee-splitting clause required Banks "to remit fifty percent (50%) of any attorney fees received on those files to the firm for the first year from the date you leave and forty percent (40%) the second year, and thereafter." CP 96.

Invoking this provision, STL sued Banks when he left the firm three years after starting there. CP 1-6, 91, 134-36, 195. Although STL's owner had discouraged Banks from taking cases "unless the attorney fee had the potential to be at least \$100,000," Banks had decided to accept some smaller cases while he worked at STL. CP 284. Mostly through referrals from his friends and family members, he built up a core of eight clients' cases for personal injuries from car accidents and premises liability, rather than truck wrecks. CP 195. STL "strongly discouraged" Banks

from tracking these eight clients, telling Banks that their cases' values were too low or they were too risky because of bad facts. CP 92. Banks decided to accept their cases at STL anyway, and he is the only STL attorney who communicated with these clients or did any work for them. CP 92, 195. Banks gave written notification of his resignation to these clients, and they decided to terminate STL's representation and engage Banks. CP 92, 138, 177-79. At the time of these clients' discharging STL, the firm had done very little, if any, work on most these clients' cases. CP 92.

Banks engaged a Washington legal-ethics expert, Arthur Lachman, to review STL's this fee-splitting requirement. CP 71-73; App. An attorney for 33 years, Lachman is a co-author of the treatise *The Law of Lawyering in Washington*; he wrote the chapter on fees and trust accounts. CP 72. He was chair of the WSBA's Rules of Professional Conduct Committee, and he served as President of the Association of Professional Responsibility Lawyers. CP 72. Lachman concluded that STL's

"one-size fits all' percentage fee allocation applying to all matters ... did not come close to complying with the requirements of RPC 5.6(a)." CP 77. Surveying several WSBA ethics opinions, Lachman explained that "indirect restrictions on competition, including financial disincentives for taking 'firm' clients, violate RPC 5.6(a)." CP 73. Washington's RPC 5.6(a) duplicates ABA Model Rule 5.6, and Lachman noted a broad national consensus that ABA Model Rule 5.6 bars "an employment agreement that requires a lawyer to pay a former employer a flat percentage of fees received in all cases in which the client elects to move representation to the departing lawyer's firm." CP 74. A law firm might comply with RPC 5.6(a), Lachman explained, by crafting an employment agreement tailored to recover "fees from departing lawyers that reflect the value of the firm's contribution to specific cases in quantum meruit or other reasonable basis." CP 76. But, Lachman found, STL's across-the-board demand for a percentage cut did not comply with RPC 5.6(a). CP 77. Banks argued that STL's feesplitting provision was therefore void as against public policy.

The trial court disagreed, granting STL's motion for summary judgment, and the court entered judgment in STL's favor for \$200,197.80 of the contingency fees that its former clients had paid to Banks. CP 292-98, 375-79. Division I affirmed. Op. 5-13. Even though those cases had not met STL's case-acceptance standards and STL had not wanted them, the court concluded that "STL placed economic significance on the value of the files." Op. 12. The court found no infringement on RPC 5.6(a)'s interests in client choice and professional autonomy, reasoning that the clients had all hired Banks and that he would have earned about the same percentage share had he stayed. Op. 13. For the court, STL's demand was legitimate because it was protecting its "rights" in its former clients' cases. Op. 12-13.

Even though the court acknowledged that "Washington courts have not considered RPC 5.6," Op. 7, Division I rejected separate motions from both STL and Banks to publish the

opinion. App. Division I also denied reconsideration. *Id*.

This petition followed.

- F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) The Decision Below Presents an Important Question About Regulating the Legal Profession That This Court Should Decide

STL was right in its motion to publish: "[p]roviding a clear understanding of the application of RPC 5.6 to fee-splitting provisions will serve the public interest." Resp't Mot. to Publish at 3. This issue turns on policy considerations that this Court, as the constitutionally vested regulator of the practice of law, can and should resolve. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(a) The Court Should Review This Unresolved
Issue Under RPC 5.6(a) Because This Court
Has Ultimate Authority to Decide Whether
Restrictions on Attorney Movement Harm
Client Choice and Professional Autonomy

This case cries out for this Court's review because "[t]o date, Washington courts have not considered RPC 5.6." Op. 7. Division I inexplicably decided that its opinion did not warrant publication even though the "decision determines an unsettled or

new question of law." RAP 12.3(d). The lower courts, the WSBA Committee on Professional Ethics, and experts like Lachman can provide only persuasive insight in this vacuum. Until this Court speaks, the bar and the public will lack definitive guidance. And in the meanwhile, Division I's opinion will embolden law firms to refashion their partnership and employment contracts to limit attorney movement and to claim entitlements to fees paid by former clients to departed lawyers.

This Court has the authority and responsibility to provide

¹ The WSBA has issued four advisory opinions on RPC 5.6(a) or its predecessor rule, although none address a feesplitting provision, and all addressed more facial, explicit limitations on competition. *See* WSBA Rules of Prof'l Conduct Comm., Advisory Op. 2118 (2006) (restriction on a departing attorney soliciting firm's clients in certain geographical areas); WSBA Rules of Prof'l Conduct Comm., Advisory Op. 1998 (2002) (provision limiting a terminated lawyer's right to hire lawyers from the former firm); WSBA Rules of Prof'l Conduct Comm., Advisory Op. 1446 (1991) (law firm agreed to buy departing shareholder's ownership interest only if a noncompete covenant was executed); WSBA Rules of Pro. Conduct Comm., Advisory Op. Advisory Opinion 927 (1985) (departing shareholder's stock price tied to whether the lawyer signed a noncompete covenant).

clarity. RAP 13.4(b)(4). All the RPCs derive from this Court's constitutional power to regulate the practice of law. Hizev v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261, 830 P.2d 646 (1992). This Court "has an exclusive, inherent power to admit, enroll, discipline, and disbar attorneys." Short v. Demopolis, 103 Wn.2d 52, 62, 691 P.2d 163 (1984).With this power comes "ultimate responsibility" for regulating the legal profession. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Johnson, 118 Wn. 2d 693, 703, 826 P.2d 186 (1992). Exercising this Court's regulatory power here is, as in other cases involving the RPCs, "necessary for ... the proper administration of justice, the dignity and purity of the profession, and for the public good and the protection of clients." Seattle v. Ratliff, 100 Wn.2d 212, 215, 667 P.2d 630 (1983) (quotation omitted).

This case presents an issue primed for this Court's review in part because it turns purely on law. Applying the same principles that govern statutory interpretation, this Court interprets the RPCs *de novo*. *E.g.*, *LK Operating*, *LLC v*.

Collection Grp., LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 75, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014). To "give effect to the intent behind the rule," the Court roots its interpretation in "the plain language of the rule at issue in the context of the RPCs as a whole." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[W]hether an attorney's conduct violates the relevant rules of professional conduct is a question of law." *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457-58, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992) (citations omitted).

While the Divisions of the Court of Appeals are just as capable at parsing the rule's text, this Court is uniquely suited to decide the question here because it demands a look behind the text, to the rule's underlying purposes. On its face, RPC 5.6(a) applies only if a contract "restricts the rights of a lawyer ... to practice." (emphasis added). One reading of this term is that it prohibits only explicit bans on competition. But courts around the country agree that a contract between a firm and departing lawyer need not include a direct prohibition on competition with the firm for it to violate a rule like RPC 5.6(a). A financial disincentive may be enough. See, e.g., Spiegel v. Thomas, Mann

& Smith, P.C., 811 S.W.2d 528, 531 (Tenn. 1991) (collecting cases); N.C. Ethics Op. 2008-8; CP 73 (Lachman opinion). What constitutes an impermissible indirect "restrict[ion]," RPC 5.6(a), is less of an interpretive question and more of a judgment call—one that this Court, as the legal profession's regulator, is best positioned to make.

Public policy is on center stage here especially because of the nature of this dispute. If this were an attorney-discipline case, this Court would be asked only whether this contract violates RPC 5.6(a). But this case hinges on Banks's defense that STL's employment contract is void as against public policy. So the analysis deepens into the waters of policymaking—this Court's purview. While not all contracts that violate an RPC are necessarily void, those that violate the policies embodied in the RPC are void. *LK Operating*, 181 Wn.2d at 88. "The underlying inquiry when determining whether a contract violates public policy is whether the contract has a tendency to be against the public good, or to be injurious to the public." *Id.* at 86. An RPC

Agreements involving fees that violate a rule of professional conduct are among the contracts that may be voided. *See, e.g., Valley/50th Ave., LLC v. Stewart,* 159 Wn.2d 736, 743, 153 P.3d 186 (2007) (RPC 1.8); *Belli v. Shaw,* 98 Wn.2d 569, 578, 657 P.2d 315 (1983) (DR 2-107). There is no reason why contracts violating RPC 5.6(a) should be exempted from this analysis.

RPC 5.6(a) embodies two public policies, both qualifying as "substantial," RAP 13.4(b)(4), elements of this Court's regulatory infrastructure. First, while RPC 5.6(a)'s text does not expressly mention it, the rule's comments confirm that it protects "the freedom of clients to choose a lawyer." RPC 5.6(a) cmt. 1. The history behind RPC 5.6 confirms it. Our Supreme Court enacted the current version of the RPCs, including the official comments, in 2006. *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 48, 76 n.13, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014). The 2006 rules were adapted from the American Bar Association Model Rules, promulgated in 2003. Johanna M. Ogdon, *Washington's New*

Rules of Professional Conduct: A Balancing Act, 30 Seattle U. L. Rev. 245 (2006). The ABA based Model Rule 5.6 on former canon DR 2-108, and "client choice" was "the premise underlying DR 2-108." Whiteside v. Griffis & Griffis, P.C., 902 S.W.2d 739, 744 (Tex. App. 1995). This central concern appears in WSBA advisory opinions pre-dating 2006 too. See, e.g., WSBA Comm. on Prof'l Ethics, Advisory Op. 2100 (2005) (recognizing that noncompete agreements "limit the freedom of clients to choose a lawyer"). Authorities from states applying their version of Model Rule 5.6 are in accord. See, e.g., Ohio Advisory Ethics Op. 2021-7 (2021); N.J. Advisory Comm. on Prof'1 Ethics, Op. 708 (2006); Eisenstein v. David G. Conlin, P.C., 827 N.E.2d 686, 690 (Mass. 2005); Meehan v. Shaughnessy, 535 N.E.2d 1255, 1262 (Mass. 1989). The leading treatise agrees too. See 1 Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., W. William Hodes, & Peter R. Jarvis, The Law of Lawyering, at 50-12 (4th ed. 2014).

RPC 5.6(a) must be read "in the context of the RPCs as a

whole," LK Operating, 181 Wn.2d at 76, and the rest of the RPCs reinforce this conclusion that RPC 5.6(a) protects clients. For example, RPC 1.1 tells us that attorneys must invest unpaid time to become competent in a practice area before accepting clients. Elsewhere, RPC 1.5(a) makes clear that no lawyer may collect a fee that is unreasonable—even if the lawyer finds clients who say they will pay an outlandish rate. To take other examples, RPC 1.5(f) and RPC 1.15A(b) stop attorneys from lending themselves money from clients' advance payments. RPC 1.15A. Next, RPC 1.5(b) and (c) warn that an attorney's fee agreements with the client must be transparent about the basis for calculating fees. RPC 1.5(e) forbids attorneys from different law firms from agreeing among themselves to share a client's fee payments unless the client knows and consents in writing to the precise arrangement. And RPC 7.3(b) imposes limits on kickback schemes for referrals. When lawyers market their practices, RPC 7.1 and RPC 7.3(a) bar "false or misleading" statements. These scattered provisions of the RPCs thus serve a unified goalputting clients first and empowering them to make informed decisions about their own legal representation without the constraints of attorney self-dealing.

The second public policy embodied in RPC 5.6(a) is its protection of "professional autonomy." RPC 5.6(a) cmt. 1. That concern is very acute for lawyers at the beginning of their careers who are at greater risk of economic exploitation. See 1 Hazard & Hodes, supra, at 50-5 ("The Rule is also designed in part to lawyers—particularly younger lawyers—from protect bargaining away their right to move to another firm or to open their own offices after they end an association with a firm or other legal employer."). In the early stages of their career, younger attorneys have much less leverage than law firms, especially in recent years: they carry much higher debt burdens than in the past and must find employment to meet their monthly payments. They do not have the luxury of declining available positions. RPC 5.6(a) fights against the dangers of law firms restraining attorneys from leaving to improve their careers.

In short, RPC 5.6(a) implicates "issue[s] of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(b) The Bar and the Public Need Guidance on Whether Division I Correctly Adopted the Minority, Permissive View of Financial Disincentives Against Attorney Movement

Nationwide, "courts are divided on how to apply their states' version of Rule 5.6(a)." Johnson Family Law, P.C. v. Bursek, No. No. 22SC497, slip op., 2024 WL 159107, at *3 (Colo. Jan. 16, 2024) (citation omitted). This division breaks down into roughly two views. The first, which is the majority, "holds that any contractually imposed financial burden on an attorney's professional autonomy violates the rule." Id. (collecting cases). The second, the minority approach, "seek[s] to achieve a balance between the interest of clients in having the attorney of choice, and the interest of law firms in a stable business environment." Howard v. Babcock, 863 P.2d 150, 160 (Cal. 1993). Even if it creates a financial disincentive deterring a lawyer from leaving or accepting former clients, a law firm may

exact a "reasonable" economic "toll" on the departing lawyer that "protects the reasonable interests of the business." *Id*.

That Division I tacitly adopted the minority view is evident from two features of its opinion. First, Division I embraced the minority view's desire to protect "the legitimate business interest of law firms." Howard, 863 P.2d at 160. Op. 12-13 (approving STL's effort to protect its business expectancy in its former clients' cases). That is why the court relied on cases such as Groen, Laveson, Goldberg & Rubenstone v. Kancher, 827 A.2d 1163 (N.J. App. Div. 2003), and Barna, Guzy & Steffen, Ltd. v. Beens, 541 N.W.2d 354, 355 (Minn. Ct. App. 1995), while rejecting Arena v. Schulman, LeRoy & Bennett, 233 S.W.3d 809, 814 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2006). Op. 10-13. Second, Division I adopted a pro-restriction approach by treating clients' cases as property of the firm. The court believed that STL had permissibly "protected the firm's rights in case the parties terminated their relationship after cases were initiated at the firm." Op. 13.

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