# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/28/2024 2:12 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1027613 Court of Appeals No. 84337-1-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SEATTLE TRUCK LAW, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

v.

JAMES BANKS, an individual,

Petitioner.

### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christopher L. Hilgenfeld, WSBA #36037 Daniel A. Rogers, WSBA #46372 Davis Grimm Payne & Marra 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98104-7055 Ph. (206) 447-0182 | Fax: (206) 622-9927

Attorneys for Respondent Seattle Truck Law, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company

###

I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
A. Factual History			
	Seattle Truck Law and Banks Were     Parties To A Valid Employment     Agreement		
	Licensed to Practice In  Washington State		
	b. The Agreement Governed The Division of Fees On Cases Taken With Banks When His Employment With Seattle Truck Law Ended		
	2. Banks Breached The Contract When He Took Cases Opened At Seattle Truck Law Upon His Resignation Then Refused To Pay The Required Split Of Fees		
	B. The Trial Court Held the Parties' Agreement  Does Not Violate RPC 5.6 and Division I  Affirmed		
III.	REVIEW SHOULD BE DECLINED 6		
	A. This Matter Does Not Warrant The Court's Review		

B. Banks Is Precluded From Raising New	
Arguments	
<ol> <li>Banks Is Precluded From Arguing This         Court Must Consider All The RPCs     </li> <li>Banks Is Precluded From Raising His</li> </ol>	
New Retirement Benefits Argument 8	
C. The Parties' Agreement Is Not A Non- Compete	
D. Banks's Reliance On Ethics Opinions From	
Foreign Jurisdictions Is Misguided	
E. Banks's "Secret Agreement" Argument  Displays His Own Failure To Abide By The  Rules Of Professional Conduct	
F. <u>The Law of Lawyering Does Not Promote</u> <u>Invalidating Agreements Based On Theoretical</u> <u>Impact</u>	
G. <u>Banks's Continued False Representations To</u> <u>The Courts Regarding Work Performed By</u> <u>Seattle Truck Law</u>	
IV. CONCLUSION	

### **Table of Authorities**

Arena v. Schulman, LeRoy & Bennett, 233 S.W.3d 809 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2006)
Barna, Guzy & Steffen, Ltd. v. Beens, 541 N.W.2d 354 (Minn. Ct. App. 1995) 10, 13
Baron v. Mullinax, Wells, Mauzy & Baab, Inc., 623 S.W.2d 457, 461-62 (Tex. App.—Texarkana 1981) 21
<i>Brantley v. NBC Universal, Inc.</i> 675 F.3d 1192, 1197 (9th Cir. 2012)
Capozzi v. Latsha & Capossi, P.C., 797 A.2d 314 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002)
Cincinnati Bar Ass'n v. Hackett, 950 N.E. 2d 969 (Ohio 2011)
Cohen v. Graham, 722 P.2d 1388 (Wn. Ct. App. 1986)
Fearnow v. Ridenour, Swenson, Cleere & Evans, 138 P. 3d 723 (Ariz. 2006)
Groen, Laveson, Goldberg & Rubenstone v. Kancher, 827 A.2d 1163 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2003)
Haight, Brown & Bonesteel v. Superior Court, 285 Cal. Rptr. 845 (Ct. App. 1991)11
Howard v. Babcock, 863 P.2d 150 (Cal. 1993)

La Mantia v. Durst, 561 A.2d 275, 279 (N.J. Super. 1989);
Les Shockley Racing, Inc. V. National Hot Rod Asso., 884 F.2d 504, 508 (9th Cir. 1989)
McCroskey, Feldman, Cochrane & Brock PC v. Waters, 494 N.W.2d 826, 828 (Mich. Ct. App. 1992) 24, 25
Miller v. Jacobs & Goodman, 699 So. 2d 729 (Fl. App. 1997)
Norton Frickey, P.C. v. James B. Turner, P.C., 94 P.3d 1266, 1269 (Colo. App. 2004)
Walker v. Gribble, 689 N.W.2d 104, 109 (Iowa 2004)
Warner v. Carimi Law Firm, 725 So. 2d 561 (La. App. 1998)
Rules
RAP 2.5(a) 6, 7, 8
RPC 1.5(a-c) passim
RPC 5.6 passim
Other Authorities
ABA Comm. On Ethics & Prof'l Responsibility, Formal Op. 487

Annotated Model Rules of Prof'l Conduct R. 5.6 (2023)
D.C. Ethics, OP. 65 (1979)
Fla. Ethics, OP. 93-4 (1995)
Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., W. William Hodes, & Peter R. Jarvis, <i>The Law of Lawyering (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2014)</i>
Michigan Bar Ethics, OP. RI-245 (1995)
NC Ethics, OP. 2008-8
Ohio Advisory Ethics, OP. 2021-7

### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent Seattle Truck Law, PLLC ("STL" or "Respondent") respectfully requests the Court deny Petitioner James Banks's ("Banks" or "Petitioner") Petition for Review. Division I's opinion is well-reasoned. Its decision should remain undisturbed because Banks improperly seeks to use the Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPC") to avoid his contractual obligations. The Parties' Contract does not violate the RPCs and is enforceable under Washington law. This Court should not give Banks an opportunity to avoid his bargained for contractual obligations by attempting to hide behind a misreading of the RPCs after the fact, nor should it guide other Washington attorneys to shirk their contractual obligations under the guise of discovering ethics for personal profit.

Furthermore, the Petitioner failed to raise arguments at the trial court that he improperly raised at Division I and attempts to raise again in his Petition. Division I declined to consider

Banks's new arguments and so should this Court. These failures limit the scope of review making it a poor matter to set precedent.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual History

- 1. <u>Seattle Truck Law and Banks Were Parties To A</u> Valid Employment Agreement.
  - a. Both Parties Are Attorneys Licensed To Practice In Washington State.

Seattle Truck Law is a personal injury law firm located in Seattle, Washington. CP 151. The firm's primary area of practice is representing injured persons in cases that involve large truck and bus crashes. *Id.* STL was formed in 2016. *Id.* The principal owner of STL is Morgan Adams. *Id.* Mr. Adams is an attorney licensed to practice in Washington, among other states. *Id.* 

James Banks worked as a lawyer at STL from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. CP 159. He entered into an employment agreement with STL on November 29, 2017. CP 152.

# b. The Agreement Governed The Division Of Fees On Cases Taken With Banks When His Employment With Seattle Truck Law Ended.

There is no dispute that Banks violated the plain terms of the Parties' Agreement. Banks attempts to avoid his legal responsibilities with a series of unsupported arguments that the Parties' Agreement is not enforceable. The pertinent section of the Parties' Agreement states as follows:

On Contingency files opened at the office, that you take with you if you leave, you agree you will repay all costs and expenses owed to the firm within three (3) months of the date you leave. You further agree to remit fifty percent (50%) of any attorney fees received on those files to the firm for the first year from the date you leave and forty percent (40%) the second year, and thereafter.

CP 152 (emphasis added).

On January 1, 2020, the Parties executed an addendum to the Parties' Agreement (the "Addendum"). CP 156. Banks renegotiated certain aspects of the Parties' Agreement. The parties did not, however, alter the provisions in the Contract regarding Banks's handling of files following his separation from STL. The Addendum states, in pertinent part:

Other than income discussed below, the other aspects and terms of our November 29, 2017 agreement (bar dues, CLE, separation terms to include files you take with you, files you leave, etc...) will remain the same.

CP 156.

The Parties' Agreement and the Addendum are referred to collectively as the "Contract" or the "Parties' Agreement." The Addendum did not contain a zipper clause, or any other clause that would invalidate or limit the Contract.

2. <u>Banks Breached The Contract When He Took</u>
<u>Cases Opened At Seattle Truck Law Upon His</u>
<u>Resignation Then Refused To Pay The Required</u>
<u>Split Of Fees.</u>

In January of 2021, Banks resigned from STL. CP 159. When he left, he took eight cases (the "Cases") that were opened at STL. Banks immediately settled the first case within six weeks of leaving STL. CP 177. The case settled for \$350,000 and constitutes nearly a third of the fees disputed by the parties. *Id*.

Banks litigated the Cases following his departure to resolution. CP 175.

Prior to the trial court's order on summary judgment, Banks failed to remit any payment to STL for any attorney's fees realized from the Cases. CP 159, 175. He refused to remit payment for any of the attorney's fees that were owed to STL per the Parties' Agreement. *Id.*; CP 9.

### B. The Trial Court Held the Parties' Agreement Does Not Violate RPC 5.6 and Division I Affirmed.

On June 17, 2022, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Seattle Truck Law on its claim for Breach of Contract and denied Banks's motion in its entirety. The court held the provision in the Parties' Agreement regarding the division of attorney's fees for the Cases Banks took with him from STL "does not violate RPC 5.6, [and] there's no other basis upon which I would find that provision unenforceable." Verbatim Report of Proceedings, 48-49:25-2 (June 17, 2022).

Division I affirmed, holding that the Parties' Agreement was neither a non-compete nor a *de facto* non-compete and did not violate RPC 5.6.

#### III. REVIEW SHOULD BE DECLINED

### A. This Matter Does Not Warrant The Court's Review.

Division I issued a well-reasoned, thoughtful decision and its conclusion is unassailable. Further, the record in this matter is not ideal for developing ethical jurisprudence. Division I did not consider Petitioner's arguments involving numerous RPCs in this matter because the issue was not properly raised at the trial court. Undeterred, Banks now seeks to make these arguments and a wholly new argument related to retirement benefits to this Court. These new arguments are proscribed by RAP 2.5(a).

Another reason this Court should decline to hear this matter is that Division I reached the correct conclusion. The Petitioner's arguments have not evolved or improved since the trial court, he continues to misapprehend key holdings in persuasive cases as well as how the majority of jurisdictions have

interpreted RPC 5.6, and he fails to distinguish hourly from contingency cases. Banks's arguments simply are not supported by the authority he points to.

### B. Banks Is Precluded From Raising New Arguments.

Banks failed to properly develop the record at the trial court and RAP 2.5(a) prohibits him from raising new arguments on appeal. He did not raise any argument regarding any RPC other than 5.6 at the trial court that would allow him to raise the myriad new issues he attempted to raise before Division I and now puts before this Court. He also did not raise argument regarding RPC 5.6's exception to restrictions on a lawyer's right to practice involving retirement benefits.

### 1. <u>Banks Is Precluded From Arguing This Court Must</u> Consider All The RPCs.

At the trial court, Banks's only reference to any RPC other than 5.6 is in a bullet point summary of *Cincinnati Bar Ass'n v. Hackett*<sup>1</sup> stating "Lawyer violated RPC 1.5 and 5.6 for

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 950 N.E.2d 969 (Ohio 2011).

attempting to require departing associates to pay 95% fees (sic) generated in the clients' cases to respondent regardless of the proportion of the work that each attorney performed." CP 54. At the trial court, Banks did not argue that numerous RPCs should be read together to gain insight into the meaning of RPC 5.6 as he does now. Pet. Rev. at 15-17.

Banks is not simply citing new authorities in his Petition for Review. He is attempting to shoehorn entirely new theories and arguments into the Petition. RPC 1.5 was mentioned in passing at the trial court. Banks cites a total of sixteen RPCs or their subsections in his Petition. Fourteen more than were raised before the trial court.

### 2. Banks Is Precluded From Raising His New Retirement Benefits Argument.

Banks raises an *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* argument regarding the retirement benefits exception in RPC 5.6 in his Petition for the first time. This argument was not raised at the trial court or even attempted to be raised at Division I. Banks is precluded by RAP 2.5(a) from making this new argument now.

Even if Banks were not proscribed from making this argument, it would not change the result of Division I's opinion. It makes no difference if the retirement benefits exception excludes any other exception to restricting the right of a lawyer to practice because the Parties' Agreement did not restrict Banks's right to practice. The Parties' Agreement is not a noncompete, a financial disincentive, or a restriction on his right to practice. Slip Op. at 9, 12-13.

Banks argues at least three theories that were not raised at the trial court: (1) that RPC 1.5<sup>2</sup> is part of a larger harmony of all the RPCs and their purposes; (2) that the requirements related to the totality of how fees are governed in Washington under RPC 1.5(a)-(c) was somehow violated by the Parties' Agreement; and (3) the implications of the retirement exception in RPC 5.6. This Court should refrain from addressing these arguments at this late hour.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RPC 1.5 (Cmt 8) limits the scope of this RPC and states, "Paragraph (e) does not prohibit or regulate division of fees to be received in the future for work done when lawyers were previously associated in a law firm."

### C. The Parties' Agreement Is Not A Non-Compete.

The majority view<sup>3</sup> of RPC 5.6 prohibits outright noncompete agreements as part of a lawyer's employment agreement. It allows fee-allocation agreements exactly like the one in this case.

"Rule 5.6(a) does not...preclude enforcement of feeallocation agreements logically related to the anticipated
financial impact of the lawyer's departure." Annotated Model
Rules of Prof'l Conduct R. 5.6 (2023). Division I's opinion puts
Washington in line with the majority view according to the
American Bar Association. The ABA's analysis of the majority
position bases its reasoning on several cases that Division I relied
on in its Opinion. See *Groen, Laveson, Goldberg & Rubenstone*v. Kancher, 827 A.2d 1163 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2003);
Barna, Guzy & Steffen, Ltd. v. Beens, 541 N.W.2d 354 (Minn.

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At every opportunity, Banks has incorrectly argued what constitutes the majority and minority positions on RPC 5.6. He hopes that if he keeps saying something, that will make it true. But his argument is wrong before this Court just as it was before the trial court and Division I.

Ct. App. 1995); *Warner v. Carimi Law Firm*, 725 So. 2d 561 (La. App. 1998).

"A minority of jurisdictions have upheld reasonable financial disincentives notwithstanding their potential anticompetitive effect." [Annotated Model Rules of Prof'l Conduct R. 5.6.] iurisdictions These analyze the "reasonableness" of law firm noncompete provisions the same way "reasonableness" is measured for noncompete agreements outside the legal profession. See Id. (citing Haight, Brown & Bonesteel v. Superior Court, 285 Cal. Rptr. 845 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Recognizing the sweeping changes in the practice of law, we can see no legal justification for treating partners in law firms differently [regarding noncompetition agreements] from partners in other businesses and professions."); Fearnow v. Ridenour, Swenson, Cleere & Evans, 138 P. 3d 723 (Ariz. 2006) (shareholder agreement requiring departing lawyer to relinquish his stock to professional corporation if he competes with it must be examined for reasonableness just like any other professional's

employment agreement); *Capozzi v. Latsha & Capossi, P.C.*, 797 A.2d 314 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002) ("We agree with the California Supreme Court and, further, adopt its reasoning and rationale [in *Howard v. Babcock*, 863 P.2d 150 (Cal. 1993).]").

The Petitioner repeatedly attempts to tie Division I's opinion to *Howard v. Babcock* in support of his incorrect assertion that Division I adopted the minority view. Nowhere in its opinion did Division I rely on *Howard v. Babcock*. The case is not cited once.

To cite *Babcock*, as Banks does, for the proposition that, "Division I marched in lockstep with the minority view's desire to protect 'the legitimate business interest of law firms[]""<sup>4</sup> is a gross misrepresentation of Division I's opinion. Not only does Division I not base its analysis on a desire to protect business interest, the phrase "business interest" does not even appear in the opinion. Division I did not ask whether the Parties'

<sup>4</sup> Pet. Rev. at 22.

\_

Agreement contained a "restriction [that] can be justified,"<sup>5</sup> the court simply determined there was no restriction and no financial disincentive. Slip Op. at 13. "And as was the case in *Barna*<sup>6</sup> the fee-splitting provision entitled Banks to a higher percentage of the contingent fees than he was entitled to as an employee of STL. Thus, the agreement could not serve as a financial disincentive." *Id*.

It is also a gross misrepresentation to say Division I rejected *Arena v. Schulman, LeRoy & Bennett*, 233 S.W.3d 809 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2006). Division I thoroughly analyzed *Arena* and outright rejected Banks's misinterpretation of its reasoning and holding. *Arena* involved a "shareholder agreement that required a departing shareholder to pay the firm 50 percent of fees received from contingent fee cases if the shareholder continued practicing within the same and surrounding counties." Slip Op. at 10 (citing *Arena*, 233 S.W.3d at 810) (emphasis added).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pet. Rev. at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Barna, Guzy & Steffen, Ltd. v. Beens, 541 N.W.2d 354 (Minn. Ct. App. 1995)

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